STATEMENT OF ISSUES 

GROUNDS FOR REVIEW (SUMMARY) 

Plaintiff Katherine Rosenberg-Wohl brought a claim for public 

injunctive relief against Defendant State Farm. 

While Rosenberg-Wohl had standing to bring the suit due to her 

homeowner’s policy, her claim was not a claim “on” that policy – i.e., for 

promised payment for losses insured under the policy. Rather, her claim was 

attacking as unfair and illegal State Farm’s adjudication process as one 

designed to lead to summary denial by failing to investigate claims of loss 

and issuing rote denials without sufficient specificity as to put claimants on 

notice as to whether and how to provide information to State Farm that 

might make a difference.  

The trial court granted State Farm’s demurrer on the bases that 

(a) Rosenberg-Wohl had brought her claim beyond the 1-year period

identified in the policy itself, and (b) State Farm could not have waived the 

applicability of that 1-year period no matter the evidence because this 
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Supreme Court has said in famous Prudential footnote 9 that an insurance 

company cannot waive limitations protection as a matter of law. The 

appellate court affirmed.1 

There are two important legal issues here that if left unaddressed will 

render California law uncertain, pace CRC 8.500(b)(1): 

(1) Isn’t a lawsuit seeking only injunctive relief protecting the public

from a popular insurer’s unfair business practices different from a claim by a 

policyholder for damages “on the policy” that is governed by the policy’s 1-

year statute? Doesn’t the UCL’s 4-year statute of limitations apply? 

(2) Did this Supreme Court, in its oft-quoted footnote 9 in Prudential,

really mean to say that an insurance company could not waive the policy’s 1-

year statute after it has run as a matter of law? This is what the lower courts 

(and federal courts) have said, but isn’t that illogical and contrary to the 

distinction (also well established by this Supreme Court) between estoppel 

and waiver? 

1  The decision is attached hereto (“Opinion”). Petitioners did not seek a 
petition for rehearing, CRC 8.504(b)(3). 
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GROUNDS FOR REVIEW (DETAIL) 

(1) Isn’t a lawsuit seeking only injunctive relief protecting the public

from a popular insurer’s unfair business practices different from a claim by a 

policyholder for damages “on the policy” that is governed by the policy’s  

1-year statute? Doesn’t the UCL’s 4-year statute of limitations apply?

• The appellate court held that the “nature of the obligation” breached

here was the “claims adjudication process” (Opinion at 15) and that

the crux of the claim was “grounded upon a failure to pay policy

benefits” which were not in fact sought (Opinion at 19). To state the

issues that way begs the answer, because a UCL claim is not based

upon an obligation and Rosenberg-Wohl did not seek policy benefits.

• The appellate court’s holding conflates standing (which does require a

contract) with the nature of the claim itself (which is not based upon

any contractual requirement of fair adjudication process but a

statutory obligation that the process not be unfair).

• The appellate court’s decision departs from California law because all

cases it cites involve requests by policyholders for damages due under

contract. See, i.e., Jang v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co., 80

Cal.App.4th 1291 (2000), Lawrence v. Western Mutual Ins. Co., 204
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Cal.App.3d 565 (1988); Velasquez v. Truck Ins. Exchange, 1 

Cal.App.4th 712, 722 (1991) (mention of damages omitted by appellate 

court below); Abari v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co., 205 Cal. 

App.3d 530 (1988); see also Keller v. Federal Insurance Co., 2017 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20820 (C.D. Cal.); Enger v. Allstate Ins. Co., 2016 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 199888 (N.D. Cal.); Sullivan v. Allstate Ins. Co., 964 

F.Supp. 1407 (C.D. Cal. 1997) (Opinion at 16-18).

• But where damages are not sought but rather the relief sought is

change of an unfair policy that affects not just the insured but the

public at large, the insurer’s policy promise to the insured is not at

issue. See, e.g., 20th Century Ins. Co. v. Superior Court, 90

Cal.App.4th 1247, 1280-1281 (2001) (“While we are persuaded that

bad faith claims that are seeking damages recoverable under the

policy, such as those presented in Jang, Velasquez, Prieto, Abari and

Lawrence, have the same limitations period applicable to claims for

breach of contract, and constitute insurance claims, the rationale

which justifies that conclusion has no application to Ahles's fraud

claim. Her action for fraud does not rest on 20th Century's failure to

perform under the policy, but rather on its alleged acts of deceit

and deception that go well beyond simple nonperformance. That the

purpose of such alleged fraudulent behavior may have been to evade
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performance under the policy does not alter the conclusion that an 

entirely separate act of misconduct has been alleged”). 

• Simply alleging a claim under the UCL, of course, is no different from

one alleging breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing or

any other claim in which the point is to recover money for breach of

contract. See Conder v. Home Sav. of Am., 680 F.Supp.2d 1168, 1176

(C.D. Cal. 2010) (“A breach of contract may form the basis for UCL

claims … if "it also constitutes conduct that is 'unlawful, or unfair, or

fraudulent.'" Puentes v. Wells Fargo Home Mtg., Inc., 160

Cal.App.4th 638, 645 (2008). See generally Aryeh v. Canon Business

Solutions, Inc., 55 Cal.4th 1185, 1196 (2013).

• When only injunctive relief has been sought, the four-year UCL

statutory period applies. See, e.g., Broberg v. The Guardian Life Ins.

Co. of America, 171 Cal.App.4th 912, 917, 920 (2009) (claim that

insurance company’s practice regarding “the marketing, promotion

and sale of the vanishing premium policy” was unfair); North Star

Reinsurance Corp. v. Superior Court, 10 Cal.App.4th 1815, 1818

(1992) (unfair competition claim against insurer for “refusing the

tender of the defense”). See also Aryeh v. Canon Business Solutions,

Inc., 55 Cal.4th 1185, 1190 (2013) (complaint alleging unfair practice

of charging for test copies seeking injunctive relief and class action).

Compare Keller v. Federal Insurance Company, 2017 WL 603181
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(C.D. Cal.) with Enger v. Allstate Ins. Co., 2016 WL 19988 (N.D. Cal). 

In the former, the insureds sought compensatory damages and the 

court found the UCL claim based upon breach of contract., 2017 WL 

603181 at 5-6 and 40-41, while in the latter, the insured challenged 

the insurer’s business practice of how it calculated depreciation, and 

while the court recognized that the action arose because Allstate had 

failed “to pay what is owed,” the goal of the lawsuit was changing an 

ongoing policy by someone with standing to seek an injunction to that 

effect, 2016 WL 19988 at 2, 16-17. 

(2) Did this Supreme Court, in its oft-quoted footnote 9 in Prudential,

really mean to say that an insurance company could not waive the policy’s 1-

year limitations period after it has run as a matter of law? This is what the 

lower courts (and federal courts) have said, but isn’t that illogical and 

contrary to the distinction (also well established by this Supreme Court) 

between estoppel and waiver? 

• The case that was essential to the trial court’ and the appellate court’s

understanding of the law to be applied in this case is the decision of

the California Supreme Court in Prudential-LMI Com. Ins. v.

Superior Court, 51 Cal.3d 674 (1990). They contend that according to

this footnote, an insurance company is powerless as a matter of law
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to waive the limitations period in its policy that has run and reopen its 

consideration of coverage. (Opinion at 22). 

• That position is nonsensical. Were it really the law, an insurance

company would be powerless to abandon the statute of limitations,

once asserted in a denial letter, as an affirmative defense. There is

nothing in California statutes, case law or public policy that requires

protecting large, sophisticated insurers from their own business

choices.

• However, the language in Prudential has confused all courts that have

interpreted it, however, so it bears parsing to explain why the

conventional and literal interpretation of the footnote is erroneous

and should be clarified.

• Prudential evaluated whether the running of the contractual policy

limitations period should be extended by way of the equitable tolling

doctrine from the date the policyholder provided notice of loss to the

insurer until the insurer denied the claim. 51 Cal.3d at 678. The

holding of the court was “yes.” Id. at 690-691.

• In the course of reaching its decision, however, Prudential addressed

in passing the interrelated issues of waiver and estoppel. That was

where it inadvertently introduced confusion into the law.

• Courts are often less than careful when it comes to distinguishing the
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concepts of waiver and estoppel, however.2 Often, the confusion arises 

because in some factual situations, the analysis looks the same.3 

Prudential inadvertently contributed to this confusion. 

• First, Prudential gave as an example of waiver an insurance

company’s conduct its express decision to abandon the limitations

period in the time before the expiration of the limitations period: “For

example, if the insurer expressly extends the one-year suit provision

during its claim investigation, the insurer waives its right to raise a

timeliness defense to the insured's action.” Id. at 689-90.

• That is unremarkable, but it says nothing about waiver after the

expiration of the 1-year period, at issue here.

• Second, Prudential gave as an example of estoppel an insurance

company’s behavior, again pre-expiration of the limitations period,

2 “Although the distinctions between waiver, estoppel, and forfeiture 
can be significant, the terms are not always used with care.” Lynch v. 
California Coastal Com., 3 Cal.5th 470, 475-476 (2017) (“The parties and 
courts below have analyzed the issue here in terms of waiver. However, the 
more accurate term to describe the effect of plaintiffs' actions is equitable 
forfeiture”). The California Supreme Court itself is not immune from this 
linguistic confusion. See, e.g., Brownrigg v. De Frees, 196 Cal. 534, 541-42 
(1925) (“[The] protection [afforded by a period of limitations] may, 
therefore, be waived in legal form, by those who are entitled to it; and such 
waiver, when acted upon, becomes an estoppel to plead the statute”) 
(internal quotation marks omitted). 

3 See Oakland Raiders v. Oakland-Alameda County Coliseum, Inc., 144 
Cal.App.4th 1175, 1189-1190 (2006) (“This form of estoppel is, for practical 
purposes, indistinguishable from the doctrine of implied waiver through 
conduct”). 



14 

that suggested its abandonment of its limitations protection: 

affirmative conduct in the same pre-expiration time period: 

“Similarly, an insurer that leads its insured to believe that an amicable 

adjustment of the claim will be made, thus delaying the insured's suit, 

will be estopped from asserting a limitation defense.” Id. at 690. 

• This too is unremarkable. Unlike the waiver analysis, though, an

insured can only rely upon conduct in the pre-expiration period; by

definition, post-expiration conduct is irrelevant as a matter of law.

“An estoppel ‘arises as a result of some conduct by the defendant,

relied on by the plaintiff, which induces the belated filing of the

action.’" Id. at 689-90 (citing Witkin).

• Footnote 5 was interposed between those two sentences, conflating

both waiver/estoppel in considering possibilities post-limitations.

Prudential’s footnote stated this, in full:

As amicus curiae observe, however, similar conduct by 

the insurer after the limitation period has run -- such as 

failing to cite the limitation provision when it denies the 

claim, failing to advise the insured of the existence of the 

limitation provision, or failing to specifically plead the 

time bar as a defense -- cannot, as a matter of law, 

amount to a waiver or estoppel. (See, e.g., Becker v. State 

Farm Fire and Cas. Co. (N.D. Cal. 1987) 664 F. Supp. 
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460, 461-462.) 

51 Cal.3d at 690, fn. 5. 

• Here is the crux of the problem: all three examples involved the failure

to assert limitations protection and so properly involved only

estoppel; i.e., they all support the unremarkable proposition that once

the limitations period has run, the insurer’s failure to speak to the

statute cannot have a meaningful impact upon the policyholder’s

reason for -- and therefore excuse -- delay. But this Court said “waiver

or estoppel.” Waiver has never been supported by a failure to do

something; rather it requires an express relinquishment of a known

right. None of these examples support waiver even if the conduct in

question were made pre-expiration of the limitations period.

• Prudential was certainly clear that it was not changing the law as to

what waiver meant. “It is settled law that a waiver exists whenever an

insurer intentionally relinquishes its right to rely on the limitations

provision.” 51 Cal.3d at 689-90.4 Specifically, Prudential did not

change the law that an insurer was free to waive the protection

afforded by a limitations period. See Elliano v. Assurance Co. of

4 For this proposition, Prudential cited most prominently 
Elliano v. Assurance Co. of America, 3 Cal. App.3d 446, 452-453 (1970). 
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America, 3 Cal.App.3d 446, 453-454 (1970).5 

• That the California Supreme Court continues to maintain the

difference between waiver and estoppel echoed by Prudential has

been made clear quite recently. “Waiver differs from estoppel, which

generally requires a showing that a party's words or acts have induced

detrimental reliance by the opposing party. Lynch v. California

Coastal Com., 3 Cal.5th 470, 475-476 (2017).

• By reviewing the single decision cited by Prudential in its footnote, a

federal decision entitled Becker v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co., 664

F. Supp. 460, 461-462 (N.D. Cal. 1987), it becomes clear that the

Prudential court’s reference to “waiver” came exclusively from a 

federal court’s speaking of “waiver” when in truth the question was 

one of “estoppel”: 

The Beckers argue that State Farm has waived its right to 

5 It is longstanding California law that periods limiting actions, even 
those imposed by statute, are privileges not rights and that the privileges can 
be waived. See Brownrigg v. De Frees, 196 Cal. 534, 541-42 (1925) (“It has 
been expressly held by this court in numerous decisions that the privilege 
conferred by the statute of limitations is not a right protected under the rule 
of public policy but is a mere personal right for the benefit of the individual 
which may be waived”). Cf. Zamora v. Lehman, 214 Cal.App.4th 193, 205-
207 (2013) (“the statute of limitations remains a matter of personal right for 
the benefit of the individual in the sense that a defendant waives that 
defense by not timely raising it”) (internal quotations marks omitted). By 
statute, the California legislature has limited the effect of such a waiver to 
four years. See Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 360.5; Hambrecht & Quist Venture 
Partners v. American Medical Internat., Inc., 38 Cal.App.4th 1532, 1547, fn. 
15 (1995). 



17 

assert the twelve-month limitations clause because it did 

not raise this defense when it denied plaintiffs' claim.  

664 F. Supp. 460 at 461-62 (emphasis supplied).  

• Under California law, failure to raise the statute of limitations in a

denial letter cannot amount to waiver because that is not evidence of

intentional relinquishment of the right to rely on the limitations

provision. See 51 Cal.3d at 689-90 (emphasis added). See also Rheem

Mfg. Co. v. U.S., 57 Cal.2d 621, 626 (1962) (waiver is the

“relinquishment [of a right that] is intentional or is the result of an act

which, according to its natural import, is so inconsistent with an

intent to enforce the right as to induce a reasonable belief that such

right has been relinquished)”.6

• Prudential’s analysis should not be read to change the meaning of

waiver.7 State Farm asserted the limitations period in its denial letter,

CT at 342; there is no argument that it failed to do so and that this

6 Note that here too, this Court begins to conflate the two principles: the 
“reasonable” evaluation should be focused upon the state of mind of the 
waivor, whereas any consideration of “induced” reliance is a question of the 
state of mind of the other party and a question of estoppel. See also Waller 
v. Truck Ins. Exchange, Inc., 11 Cal.4th 1, 33 (1995) (“[U]nder California
law, an insurer waives defenses to coverage not asserted in its denial only if
the insured can show misconduct by the insurer or detrimental reliance by
the insured”).
7 It strains credulity to believe that the California Supreme Court 
intended to overrule longstanding California law (even as to insurance 
cases) both silently and in a footnote. 
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failure somehow “waived” that protection. Rather, Rosenberg-Wohl’s 

argument here is that State Farm cannot continue to assert a 

limitations defense asserted in its original claims denial letter because 

it chose in a subsequent denial letter to reset the clock that had begun 

ticking in its original denial letter and had expired.8 

• However, all courts interpreting Prudential have done so literally and

in a way to preserve this conflation of estoppel and waiver. See, e.g.,

Singh v. Allstate Ins. Co., 63 Cal.App.4th 135, 144, fn. 1 (1998) (while

“Allstate made no representation here that it would reopen plaintiff’s

file,” if it had done so after the expiration of the contractual

limitations period, Allstate’s representation “will not result in a waiver

or estoppel”); Alta Cal. Regional Center v. Fremont Indemnity Co., 25

Cal.App.4th 455, 468 (1994) (“[A]n insurer waives a contractual

limitations period in the policy where the insurer's conduct causes the

8 This is no different from choosing not to assert the limitations period 
as an affirmative defense, regardless what the insurance company has said 
or not said in its denial letter. Just as State Farm here told its insured it was 
not going to rely upon the protection of the limitations language in the 
policy, insurers may, upon being sued, choose not to assert that limitation as 
an affirmative defense. See Minton v. Vavaney, 56 Cal.2d 576, 581 (1961); 
Union Sugar Co. v. Hollister Estate Co., 3 Cal.2d 740, 744-45 (1935). See 
generally Quigley v. Garden Valley Fire Protection Dist., 7 Cal.5th 798, 807 
(2019) (“other sorts of objections a defendant might have on the merits—
including an objection that liability is barred by an affirmative defense—are 
ordinarily deemed “waived” if the defendant does not raise them in its 
demurrer or answer to the complaint”) (citing Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 
430.80(a)). 
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insured's noncompliance with the limitations period. However, if the 

limitations period already has expired at the time the insurer denies 

the claim, the mere failure to cite the contractual statute of limitations 

provision in the insurer's denial letter cannot, as a matter of law, 

amount to a waiver presumably because the insured's failure to 

comply with the limitations period is not the insurer's fault”); CBS 

Broad. v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co., 70 Cal.App.4th 1075, 1085 (1999) 

(“An insurer may be held to have waived a policy 

provision limiting time to sue or perform other acts when it expressly 

or impliedly consents to the insured's noncompliance before the 

limitations period has run. Inducing an insured party to delay filing 

suit until the limitations period has lapsed can waive an insurer's right 

to rely on the limitations period) (citation to Prudential omitted).9 

But, as indicated above in the explication of Prudential, the language 

cited from these decisions is patently incorrect. 

• Federal decisions have compounded the problem by selectively

quoting from the Prudential footnote to make what they think to be

9 Other California appellate courts have parroted the same 
deterministic conclusion based upon the timing of the insurance 
representation without any analysis. See, e.g., Marselis v. Allstate Ins. Co., 
121 Cal.App.4th 122, 126 (2004) (simply quoting Prudential’s footnote 5). 
Cf. Keller v. Fed. Ins. Co., 765 F.App’x 271, 273 (9th Cir. 2019); Niagara 
Bottling, LLC v. Zurich Am. Ins. Co., 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 174013, at *19-
20 (C.D. Cal.). 
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Prudential’s dicta (now rendered a holding) more clear. See, e.g., 

Aceves v. Allstate Ins. Co., 68 F.3d 1160, 1163-1164 (9th Cir. 1995) 

(“Under California law, Allstate could not have waived the one-year 

suit limitation. The California Supreme Court has observed that if an 

insurer extends the expiration date of a one-year suit provision for a 

claim that the insured filed and it began investigating "after the 

limitation has run, [the extension] cannot, as a matter of law, amount 

to a waiver") (citing n.5); Gordon v. Deloitte & Touche, LLP Group 

Long Term Disability Plan, 749 F.3d 746, 752-753 (9th Cir. 2014) 

(same); Shugerman v. Allstate Ins. Co., 594 F.Supp.2d 1131, 1141 

(C.D. Cal. 2009) (same); Bonin v. Provident Life & Accident Ins. Co., 

2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 58223, at *10-11 (N.D. Cal.) (same).10 

10 Federal courts’ interpretation of California law is not, of course, 
binding upon California courts. See Johnson v. American Standard, Inc., 43 
Cal.4th 56, 69 (2008). 
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Petitioner Katherine Rosenberg-Wohl