S281510

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Katherine ROSENBERG-WOHL, Petitioner,

v.

STATE FARM FIRE AND CASUALTY CO.,

Respondent.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. A163848 San Francisco Superior Court Case No. CGC-20-587264

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MEGAN O'NEILL (SBN 220147)
ERIK P. MORTENSEN (SBN 326610)
DTO LAW
2400 Broadway, Suite 200
Redwood City, CA 94063
Telephone: (415) 630-4100
moneill@dtolaw.com
emortensen@dtolaw.com

LAUREN HUDECKI (SBN 276938) DTO LAW 601 S. Figueroa St., Suite 2130 Los Angeles, CA 90017 Telephone: (213) 335-6999 lhudecki@dtolaw.com

Attorneys for Respondent STATE FARM FIRE AND CASUALTY CO.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner Katherine Rosenberg-Wohl seeks review of a judgment affirming Respondent State Farm Fire and Casualty Co.'s Demurrer to the Second Amended Complaint. The Court of Appeal applied well-established California law in holding Petitioner's claim was time barred. Nothing here meets the criteria for this Court's review.

Petitioner alleges State Farm unfairly handled and denied her claim for coverage under her homeowners insurance policy. There is no dispute Petitioner failed to file suit within the one-year limitations period in her policy. Instead, Petitioner maintains her case was timely because she is bringing a claim for injunctive relief under the Unfair Competition Law, which has a four-year statutory limitations period. Alternatively, Petitioner argues State Farm somehow waived the policy's limitations period by briefly reconsidering Petitioner's claim after the one-year limitations period expired.

As the Court of Appeal explained, however, Petitioner "runs head first into decades of contrary case law[.]" (Op. at p. 23.) This Court has emphasized that the "nature of the obligation allegedly breached"—not the label of the cause of action—determines the applicable limitations period. (*Aryeh v. Canon Bus. Sols., Inc.* (2013) 55 Cal.4th 1185, 1200.)

Accordingly, courts in California routinely hold one-year

limitations periods in insurance policies govern allegations, like those here, involving unfair claims-handling practices. Moreover, consistent with this Court's opinion in *Prudential-LMI Commercial Insurance Co. v. Superior Court*, (1990) 51 Cal.3d 674, 690, fn. 5, courts in California routinely hold, like here, that an insurer's conduct after the one-year limitations period has expired cannot constitute waiver.

This Court should deny review.

ARGUMENT

I. THERE IS NO LACK OF UNIFORMITY: CALIFORNIA COURTS ROUTINELY ENFORCE ONE-YEAR LIMITATIONS PERIODS IN INSURANCE POLICIES TO BAR ALLEGATIONS OF UNFAIR PRACTICES.

To determine an applicable limitations period, it is well established that courts must "look not to the claim's label as a UCL claim but to the nature of the obligation allegedly breached." (Aryeh v. Canon Bus. Sols., Inc., supra, 55 Cal.4th at p. 1200.) In implementing this principle, courts have consistently applied the standard one-year limitations period in insurance policies to "claims based on allegations relating to the handling of a claim or the manner in which it was investigated, adjusted or processed." (Sullivan v. Allstate Ins. Co. (C.D.Cal. 1997) 964

F.Supp. 1407, 1414-15, emphasis added, citing *Velasquez v. Truck Ins. Exchange* (1991) 1 Cal.App.4th 712, 721.)¹

This case falls squarely within well-established precedent. As the Court of Appeal recognized, "the allegations here all concern how [State Farm] handled plaintiff's claim[.]" (Op. at p. 15.) Accordingly, the one-year limitations period in Petitioner's policy—rather than the UCL's four-year period—governs. (See, e.g., Velasquez v. Truck Ins. Exchange, supra, 1 Cal.App.4th at p. 719 [surveying California case law and explaining "where [a] bad *faith action* is based on allegations relating to the handling of a claim or the manner in which it is processed, it is an action 'on the policy and, therefore, subject to the limitations bar", emphasis added; Prieto v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. (1990) 225 Cal.App.3d 1188, 1195 [concluding policy's limitations period "applie[d] to plaintiffs' bad faith and related causes of action"], emphasis added; Abari v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. (1988) 205 Cal.App.3d 530, 536 [affirming judgment sustaining demurrer to "unfair practices claims" because they were "a transparent attempt to recover *on the policy*, notwithstanding [plaintiff's] failure to commence suit within one year of accrual", emphasis added; Enger v. Allstate Ins. Co. (N.D.Cal. Apr. 5, 2016) 2016 WL

¹ California law expressly allows a homeowners insurance policy to include a one-year limitations period to bring suit. (See Ins. Code, § 2071.)

10829363, *6 ["The suit limitation period applies to all of Plaintiff's causes of action, including her claims for breach of contract, breach of implied covenant/bad faith, *unfair business practices*, *injunctive relief*, and, to the extent pled, declaratory relief."], emphasis added.)²

The primary case on which Petitioner and the dissent below rely, 20th Century Insurance Co. v. Superior Court (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 1247, does not evince any lack of uniformity in California case law. 20th Century involved a unique statute governing the limitations period for "any insurance claim for damages arising out of the Northridge earthquake[.]" (Civ. Proc Code, § 340.9(a), emphasis added.) The court held plaintiff's fraud claim was not an "insurance claim for damages" and, therefore, not governed by the statute. (90 Cal. App.4th at p. 1281.) By contrast, the standard one-year limitations period applicable here refers broadly to any "suit or action on t[he] policy," (Ins. Code, § 340.9(a), not an "insurance claim for damages," (Civ. Proc Code, § 340.9(a)). As discussed above, Petitioner's suit is "on the policy" because it concerns how State

² Even though Petitioner does not expressly plead damages, this case is part of Petitioner's broader scheme to obtain policy benefits. Petitioner filed two cases in the Superior Court on the same day: this case and another bringing a straightforward claim for breach of the policy. (Op. at pp. 4-5.) That case was dismissed and is currently on appeal. (See *id.* at 5.)

Farm purportedly handled, investigated, adjusted, and processed her claim. (See *Sullivan v. Allstate Ins. Co., supra*, 964 F.Supp. at pp. 1414-15.) Moreover, in further contrast to *20th Century*, Petitioner here voluntarily dismissed her only claim sounding in fraud. (Op. at pp. 11, 19.)

Petitioner's other cases likewise do not demonstrate any lack of uniformity. (See Pet. at pp. 6-7.) Aryeh v. Canon Business Solutions, Inc., supra, 55 Cal.4th 1185 did not involve an insurance policy at all. Broberg v. The Guardian Life Insurance Company of America (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 912 and North Star Reinsurance Corp. v. Superior Court (1992) 10 Cal.App.4th 1815 did not involve insurance policies with limitations periods. Unsurprisingly then, those courts applied the statutory limitations periods that otherwise governed plaintiffs' claims.

Consistent with well-established California law, the Court of Appeal thus correctly held Petitioner's claim was time barred under the one-year limitations period in her Policy.

II. PRUDENTIAL-LMI IS NOT UNSETTLED.

In *Prudential-LMI*, this Court explained that "conduct by the insurer after the limitation period has run . . . cannot, as a matter of law, amount to a waiver or estoppel." (51 Cal. 3d at 690, fn. 5.) Plaintiff contends *Prudential-LMI* has confused courts. Not so.

California courts have universally and routinely applied *Prudential-LMI* to situations, like here, where a plaintiff alleges an insurance company has waived the limitations period *after* the period has expired. (See, e.g., CBS Broadcasting Inc. v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 1075, 1085 ["CBS" cannot escape the effect of the limitations provision by relying on Fireman's actions occurring months after the claim was barred."]; Singh v. Allstate Ins. Co. (1998) 63 Cal. App. 4th 135, 144, fn. 1 ["[A] carrier's representation, e.g., that it will 'reopen' a file, which is made *after* the one year period has expired, will not result in a waiver or estoppel."], emphasis added; Love v. Fire *Ins. Exchange* (1990) 221 Cal.App.3d 1136, 1151 ["Because all of the Loves' rights under the policy had already lapsed, the Loves' resubmission of the claim does not entitle them to recover damages[.]"]; Keller v. Fed. Ins. Co. (9th Cir. 2019) 765 F.App'x 271, 273 ["All of the alleged statements by Jeffrey Gesell, Federal's coverage counsel, were made in 2015, well after the limitations period had already expired. Accordingly, the district court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that Gesell's statements did not give rise to any waiver or equitable estoppel by Federal."], unpub.; Sommer v. UNUM Life Ins. Co. of Am. (9th Cir. 1999) 173 F.3d 861, 1999 WL 173570, *1 ["Under California law, the resubmission of a time-barred claim after the lapse of the limitations period does not revive an insured's right to sue."],

unpub.; Rosenberg-Wohl v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. (N.D.Cal. Mar. 28, 2022) 2022 WL 901545, *8 [holding because State Farm's reopening of claim "took place after the one-year limitations period expired," it "cannot amount to waiver as a matter of law"], quoting Rosenberg-Wohl v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. (N.D.Cal., Sept. 17, 2021) 2021 WL 4243389, *6; Gordon v. Deloitte & Touche, LLP Grp. Long Term Disability Plan (9th Cir. 2014) 749 F.3d 746, 751 [rejecting argument that reconsideration of claim revived limitations period].); cf. Croskey et al., Cal. Practice Guide: Insurance Litigation (Aug. 2023 Update) § 12:1126.10.)

Put simply, there is nothing this Court needs to clarify.

III. THIS CASE IS NOT AN APPROPRIATE VEHICLE TO REVISIT *PRUDENTIAL-LMI* BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEAL AFFIRMED STATE FARM'S DEMURRER ON INDEPENDENT GROUNDS.

Even assuming *Prudential-LMI* were unsettled (it is not), this case is not the appropriate vehicle for reconsideration. The Court of Appeal held that Petitioner's claim was time barred "*even if* plaintiff could show that State Farm could waive the [one-year limitation] provision"—*i.e.*, even if *Prudential-LMI* did not apply. (Op. at p. 24, emphasis added.) This is because Petitioner failed to adequately allege waiver as a matter of fact. (*See ibid.* ["[H]er showing would fail as a matter of proof."].)

Critically, *Petitioner does not challenge the Court of Appeal's opinion as to this ground.*

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny the Petition.